# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-414

EDWARD RAGSDALE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_

MARK S. GRUBER
ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE
FLORIDA BAR NO: 0330541
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
SUITE 210
TAMPA, FL 33609-1004
(813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ABOUT REFERENCES

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Ragsdale's Rule 3.850 motion for postconviction relief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### Procedural History and Issues Litigated

On January 16, 1986, the grand jury of Pasco County,

Florida, returned an indictment charging Mr. Ragsdale and codefendant Leon Illig with the first degree murder and armed

robbery of Ernest Mace (Dir. Vol. V 775). On January 22,

1987, Mr. Ragsdale's appointed attorney filed a motion to

withdraw which was granted on February 2, 1987 (Dir. Vol. V

842). This was followed by succession of at least four

lawyers who were appointed and then successfully moved to

withdraw citing conflicts of interest (Dir. Vol. V 856, 858,

860, 862). On August 21, 1987, the court appointed Robert

Culpepper, III, who alone represented Ragsdale at trial (Dir.

Vol. V 862).

Co-defendant Illig pled no contest in exchange for a life sentence prior to Ragsdale's trial. Mr. Ragsdale's trial was held on May 2-4, 1988. The jury found him guilty as charged (Dir. Vol. IV 632-33). The penalty phase was conducted the next day, May 5, 1988. The jury was instructed on the following aggravating circumstances: 1) Under sentence of imprisonment (parole), 2) In the course of a robbery, 3) Pecuniary gain, 4) Heinous atrocious and cruel, and 5) Cold, calculated and premeditated (Dir. Vol. IV 749-50). The jury

returned an advisory verdict recommending the death penalty by a vote of eight to four. (Dir. Vol. IV 765).

The court sentenced Ragsdale to death on May 13, 1988, finding all of the aggravating circumstances on which the jury was instructed except CCP, merging pecuniary gain and in the commission of robbery into one aggravator, and finding no mitigating circumstances "whatsoever." (Dir. Vols. IV, VI 663-68; 914-17). The court addressed and rejected defense counsel's relative culpability vis-a-vis the co-defendant argument in its findings of fact in support of the death sentence. <u>Id</u>. However, neither orally nor in its written findings did the court mention anything that could be construed as family or background mitigation. Id. On direct appeal Ragsdale claimed that: (1) the trial court erred by not allowing the defendant to question prospective jurors on voir dire as to their willingness to impose a similar penalty as that imposed upon a co-defendant if they found the defendant equally or less culpable; (2) the trial court erred by imposing the death penalty where the jury, although recommending death, indicated that Ragsdale was less culpable than his co-defendant, who was sentenced to life imprisonment; (3) the State is obligated to provide notice in the charging document of the aggravating circumstances intended to be used

in the penalty phase of the trial; (4) section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1987), is unconstitutional because it intrudes on the rule-making authority of the judiciary; (5) sections 782.04 and 921.141, Florida Statutes (1987), are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad; and (6) sections 782.04 and 921.141, Florida Statutes (1987), are unconstitutional in that they call for cruel and unusual punishment. This Court affirmed the judgment and sentence. Ragsdale v. State, 609 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1992). Appellate counsel did not file a petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court.

Mr. Ragsdale filed a timely but incomplete motion for postconviction relief on March 24, 1994. After litigating various public records issues, Mr. Ragsdale filed an amended motion on July 12, 1996. The motion raised the following claims: (1)denial of access to public records; (2) the trial judge should have recused himself in this case; (3) Ragsdale was deprived of an adversarial testing in the guilt phase; (4) he was deprived of an adversarial testing in the penalty phase; (5) he was denied effective mental health assistance; (6) the trial judge erred in summarily denying Ragsdale's

As enumerated by this Court in <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So.2d 203 (Fla. Oct 15, 1998).

competency claim; (7) Ragsdale was denied effective assistance due to his counsel's failure to object to allegedly improper argument; (8) his counsel was ineffective in presenting the closing argument; (9) the jury instructions improperly shifted the burden of proof; (10) the jury instructions were improper; (11) the trial judge improperly assessed alleged jury instruction error; (12) the jury's sense of responsibility was unconstitutionally diluted; (13) Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional; (14) Ragsdale was denied effective assistance by his attorney's alleged failure to assure his presence at all critical stages of the proceedings; (15) the trial court improperly found no factors in mitigation; (16) the trial judge was biased; (17) the aggravating circumstance of "committed while under sentence of imprisonment" was unconstitutional; (18) death by electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment; (19) Ragsdale was wrongly shackled throughout his trial; (20) he was denied his right to due process due to his inability to interview jurors; and (21) the cumulative nature of the errors in this case warrant relief. The motion was denied without an evidentiary hearing on September 30, 1996 (Post conviction record 399). A motion for rehearing was denied on October 24, 2996, and an appeal was taken to this Court.

On appeal, this Court upheld the denial of all claims except claims (4) and (5) and remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing on the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase. Specifically, this Court said:

With regard to the penalty phase, however, we conclude that an evidentiary hearing was required. During the penalty phase, defense counsel put on only one witness, Ragsdale's brother, who provided minimal evidence in mitigation. That witness had also testified on behalf of the State during the guilt phase. Additionally, the witness, when cross-examined by the State during the penalty phase, testified that it did not surprise him that his brother committed the murder and he provided other derogatory information about Ragsdale.

In Ragsdale's rule 3.850 motion, he states that testimony was available to show that Ragsdale's life was marked by poverty and deprivation and that he suffered from a lifetime of drug and alcohol addiction, yet no witnesses were called by the defense to present this testimony. More importantly, he contends that defense counsel never had him examined by a competent mental health expert for purposes of presenting mitigation. He asserts that he has now been examined by a mental health expert who has found that he suffers from organic brain damage; is mentally retarded; has severe language and listening comprehension difficulties; and has difficulties with concentration, attention, and mental flexibility. Additionally, he alleges the evidence will show that his ability to reason and exhibit appropriate judgment, as well as determine and assess the long-term consequences of his actions, is also

substantially impaired.

In finding that an evidentiary hearing was unwarranted on this issue, the trial court concluded that this issue was without merit because the record reflected that a motion to appoint a mental health expert was filed and an order appointing such an expert was issued. According to Ragsdale, however, that expert was appointed solely for the purpose of determining competency to stand trial, and no expert was appointed to evaluate Ragsdale for the purposes of presenting mitigation.

We conclude that Ragsdale has stated sufficient allegations of mitigation that are not conclusively refuted by the record to warrant an evidentiary hearing to determine whether counsel was ineffective in failing to properly investigate and present this evidence in mitigation. Hildwin, 654 So.2d at 110 (failure of counsel to present testimony regarding substantial mitigating mental health evidence deprived defendant of reliable penalty phase proceeding).

In his fifth claim, Ragsdale argues that he was deprived of an effective mental health expert. This claim necessarily overlaps the foregoing claim that his counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and introduce evidence in mitigation and should also be considered at the evidentiary hearing.

Ragsdale v. State, 720 So.2d 203 (Fla. Oct 15, 1998).

The lower court conducted an evidentiary hearing which commenced on August 27, 1999. The hearing was adjourned and reconvened a number of times thereafter. At its conclusion on

December 20, 1999, the presiding judge orally stated a number of findings and said, "Based on these findings, the Court does recommend that the motion be denied." (R. Vol. III(b) 491).

This is an excerpt from the transcript of that hearing:

[THE COURT]: The Court would further find that the absence by the attorney at that time - considering again the nature of the case, that the circumstances of the case were unreasonable. I do not find that he had abused his duties in any fashion. Obviously, in hindsight, perhaps other matters could have been brought up, but that from the standpoint of the defense counsel at that time, I cannot and do not find that his representation was inadequate or caused prejudice to the defendant that would have - could have been avoided by any other type of representation.

I think there is no question about it, that Mr. Ragsdale had a rather difficult childhood. There's no question about it that there was a lot of circumstances that could well have - based upon the present examination, could well have made perhaps - perhaps could have been presented.

But the Court must, of necessity, find that based upon the circumstances at that time, the factors and much of the evidence that we're now talking about were not available to counsel at that time, and there's no evidence to have been effectively available to him at that time.

(R. Vol. III(b) 489, -90).

A final written order dated January 21, 2000 states in pertinent part:

This Court recommends to the Supreme Court that petitioner's Motion for Post Conviction Relief be denied. This Court finds that EDWARD EUGENE RAGSDALE's trial counsel did not abuse his duties in any fashion, nor was his representation inadequate, nor did it cause prejudice to EDWARD EUGENE RAGSDALE which could have been avoided by any other type of representation. The mitigating evidence alluded to by EDWARD EUGENE RAGSDALE was not available to his trial counsel, and the psychological factors discussed during this hearing were considered by trial counsel.

This Court further finds that even had this mitigating information been available, there is no reasonable possibility that the outcome of the original sentencing hearing would have been different."

(R. Vol. I 130, -31).

This appeal follows.

#### Defense Presentation at The Penalty Phase

In <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1998) this Court said:

During the penalty phase, defense counsel put on only one witness, Ragsdale's brother [Terry Ragsdale], who provided minimal evidence in mitigation. That witness had also testified on behalf of the State during the guilt phase. Additionally, the witness, when cross-examined by the State during the penalty phase, testified that it did not surprise him that his brother committed the murder and he provided other derogatory information about Ragsdale. <u>Id</u>.

On direct examination during the penalty phase, Terry Ragsdale testified that he had shot Ragsdale in the eye with an arrow, that Ragsdale had a scar on his cheek from a car accident, and that Ragsdale was blind in one eye. (Dir. Vol. IV 691). The entire direct examination of Terry - in other words defense counsel's entire penalty phase evidentiary presentation - comprises only five and a half pages of trial transcript. (Dir. Vol. IV 686 - 691). On cross examination, Terry was reminded by the prosecutor that he had been questioned under oath "yesterday." (Dir. Vol. IV 691). agreed with the prosecutor that his brother had "been mean all of his life." (Dir. Vol. IV 692). "He's hit a couple other boys with boards." Id. He agreed, "No question, he's a bully." (Id). He had a reputation as a "violent kind of guy." (Id., Dir. Vol. IV 693). Terry agreed that Ragsdale was a "dope pusher." (Dir. Vol. IV 693). "He was smoking it and pushing it and selling it some." (Dir. Vol. IV 695). said "No, sir," when asked: "It doesn't surprise you that he killed a family friend, does it?" (Dir. Vol. IV 695, -96).

Except for a few generalities, Mr. Culpepper's penalty phase argument focused entirely on the relative culpability argument. There was virtually no argument about nonstatutory background mitigation and none at all about mental mitigation.

Defense counsel did not request and the court did not give an instruction pursuant to <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1986).<sup>2</sup>

During its penalty phase deliberations the jury asked two questions. First, the jury asked, "We would like a legal definition of no contest, nolo contendere." (Dir. Vol. IV 757). After discussion with counsel, the court read the definition provided in <a href="Black's Law Dictionary">Black's Law Dictionary</a>. The jury also asked, "Is it unjust-just to sentence the defendant to a greater sentence (death) than the accomplice, if based on the testimony heard by the jurors, the jurors <a href="believe">believe</a> the defendant may have had a lesser part in the murder?" (Dir. Vol. IV 762). The court responded by rereading the standard instruction that deciding a verdict was exclusively the jury's job. The record reflects an immediate follow up question by one of the jurors that was cut off by the judge:

JUROR POLANSKY: On the wording of that first question you read, what if it were read, what if it were changed? Should the jury consider the fact that-

THE COURT: I can't help you anymore on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>"The jury must be instructed before its penalty phase deliberations that in order to recommend a sentence of death, the jury must first find that the defendant killed or attempted to kill or intended that a killing take place or that lethal force be employed."

that. That's your decision." (Dir. Vol. IV 763).

The jury then returned an advisory verdict recommending the death penalty by a vote of eight to four. (Dir. Vol. IV 765).

#### Trial Counsel's Testimony

This was Mr. Culpepper's first and last capital case. (R. Vol. III(a) 394). He was asked whether it was true that he was "not really very familiar at the time with law with regard to capital cases," and responded, "Somewhat, but not particularly." (R. Vol. III(a) 395). So, in preparation for the case, he said that "I did some reading, of course." Id. He also talked to some other lawyers in the area. (R. Vol III(a) 396). He was court appointed and unassisted by cocounsel. The only assistance he received was from his wife. (R. Vol. III(a) 394 et seq). He did not make contact with such associations as the Public Defender Association, Volunteer Lawyer's Resource Center, Collateral Capital Representative or the ACLU. (R. Vol. III(a) 396). When he got the case, all but one of the depositions of the state witnesses had already been taken. (R. Vol. III(a) Predecessor counsel William Webb (now a circuit judge) had also retained a Dr. Delbeato to examine Mr. Ragsdale, and the resulting report had already been completed. (R. Vol. III(a)

400). Mr. Culpepper felt that, when he received the case, all the discovery had been done and that "it was a matter of learning the material and learning - you know, getting in the position to try it." (R. Vol III(a) 401). Mr. Culpepper also concluded that the chances of getting an acquittal were "extremely, extremely thin," and so his strategy from the start was to argue that Ragsdale was no more culpable than the co-defendant, who got a life sentence. (R. Vol. III(a) 392, -93).

With regard to the strategic relative culpability argument, the following exchange took place during the evidentiary hearing:

MR. CULPEPPER: I felt like the best strategy was the strategy we took. It was an extremely difficult fact situation to fight against. I felt that was the best - the State had sort of set it up by having Mr. Illig plead very early in the process. I felt that was by far the best route to take.

- Q. Let me ask you this: If in fact you had developed evidence one way or the other that Ragsdale had been abused severely as a child, that his childhood was quite impoverished, that he suffered from mental impairment, do you see those items of evidence and similar items of evidence as contradicting in any way your strategy?

investigation.

(R. Vol. III(a) 405, -06).

The sole witness for the defense at the penalty phase was Terry Ragsdale. Mr. Culpepper, said that he had reviewed Terry Ragsdale's pretrial deposition and knew that Terry Ragsdale's testimony "was negative toward his brother, but when I talked to him at the trial, what he told me was very helpful." (R. Vol. III(a) 402). Mr. Culpepper was not sure, but he did not think that he personally talked to Terry before the trial. (R. Vol. III(a) 402, -03). Mr. Culpepper said he believed he talked to Terry in the courtyard outside the courthouse during the trial for about ". . . five, 10, 15 minutes - I'm not sure." (R. Vol. III(a) 403). There is no record of that conversation other than a few notes in Mr. Culpepper's file. (R. Vol. III(a) 403). In any event, when Mr. Culpepper placed Terry Ragsdale on the stand, Terry completely reversed everything he said. "What he told me out there - he got up on the stand and said something completely different." (R. Vol. III(a) 403). Mr. Culpepper agreed that what Terry said on the stand was consistent with the negative testimony he had already given in his pretrial deposition. Id.

During the deposition, Terry said the defendant had " . . . cost me a lot . . . Eugene has cost me . . . See, I let him

borrow money. I signed a paper . . . where he bought him a car . . . And he left from here and went to Florida and left me with that nine hundred dollars to pay back, for me and Ernie to pay back . . . He had the car, And he sold it."

(R. Supp. 8). Did Terry like that? "It made me mad a little bit." (R. Supp. 9). Terry knew the victim. "He was good close friends of all the family, the whole family." (R. Supp. 10). During the deposition, Terry was specifically questioned about his being a potential mitigation witness. (R. Supp. 24, 30). Terry said, "I know the man they killed. And he didn't harm nobody. So the one that killed him needs to be put in the electric chair or something." (R. Supp. 31).

Predecessor counsel to Mr. Culpepper, William Webb, retained the services of Dr. Delbeato as a confidential mental health advisor. Dr. Delbeato evaluated the defendant and reported that:

[T]he patient was not trying to smooth over or fake. Validity scales reveal a profile which tends to be open and candid. The patient is a person with a lower self concept and lower self esteem and currently has a moderate to severe level of depression . . Furthermore, the profile suggests some passive/aggressive traits and some general mild nonconformity. It does not suggest any significant level of antisocial behavior or what we used to call the psychopath. Frankly, I don't think the man is smart enough to be a 'good psychopath.' He is emotionally conflicted

and tends to be somewhat immature, passive/aggressive and suspicious of others. . . With regard to the alleged for which he is charged, Mr. Ragsdale tells me that he is innocent of the murder of a Mr. Ernest Mace. He states that his codefendant, a Mr. Leon Ellick,[sic] is the perpetrator of the crime. He states that he was indeed an accessory after the fact to the crime but did not murder the victim.

#### (R. Supp. 96, -97).

The report contains a detailed narrative of the facts of the offense provided by the defendant which is consistent with the paragraph quoted above. <u>Id</u>. The report also contains the statement: "By the way, he states that he can prove that he was using drugs and alcohol at the time of the alleged crime. He states to me that he told you that there are three witnesses to the effect that he did imbibe alcohol and take drugs." (R. Supp. 96, -97).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Culpepper said that he reviewed Dr. Delbeato's report, but decided that there was not "sufficient mental mitigation to present to the jury." (R. Vol. III(a) 391). When asked whether he ever spoke with Dr. Delbeato, Mr. Culpepper said, "I don't think I did. I think - I don't think I did. I know I read his report." (R. Vol. III(a) 404, -05). Dr. Delbeato said, "I think the best I could or should say is that I have absolutely no recollection of that man [Culpepper] ever contacting me or talking with me

in any way." (R. Supp. 72).

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