IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD RAGSDALE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-414

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
Phone (813) 873-4739
Fax (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Ragsdale acknowledges that Culpepper's closing argument "had potential" since the jurors thereafter inquired about relative culpability; however, he then claims that Culpepper "dropped the ball" on this strategy by failing to request an Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), charge when the jury question on culpability was raised. It must be noted initially that this argument is not properly before the Court. Ragsdale has never raised a claim that his attorney was ineffective in the response to the jury questions posed during penalty phase deliberations, and has never, until the filing of his brief, argued this as a

basis of deficient performance. His prior claim regarding the adequacy of defense counsel's closing argument was rejected by this Court in his prior appeal. Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2. It is not within the claims which were remanded for an evidentiary hearing, and it clearly should not be considered at this time.

In addition, Ragsdale does not explain how an Enmund charge could have made a difference in this case; the sentencing judge expressly found, as required, that "[t]he credible evidence indicated that while Mr. Illig struck Mr. Mace, it was Mr. Ragsdale that pitilessly cut his throat" (DA-R. V6/916). The jury question did not involve a strict Enmund issue, but simply questioned the "justice" of recommending a greater sentence for a less-culpable defendant. Responding to the inquiry with an Enmund charge could easily have confused the jurors or detracted from the fairness argument that the defense had emphasized. Thus, no ineffectiveness has been shown with regard to defense counsel's closing argument or response to the jury questions.

Ragsdale also claims that Culpepper failed to investigate family background and mental mitigation. As to the family background, Culpepper testified that his wife assisted him in the investigation by attempting to contact Ragsdale's family (PC-R2. V3/T391, 404). Although he did not recall at the hearing exactly who his wife had spoken to or what information

she had obtained, he knew that she had made a number of telephone calls and got little response or cooperation from the family (PC-R2. V3/T391, 404). Culpepper's testimony that no one from the family ever came to visit Ragsdale in jail or initiated any contact with him was not refuted by any witness (PC-R2. V3/T391, 408). In addition, Culpepper's discussions with Ragsdale did not offer any suggestion that Ragsdale had been abused as a child or had an impoverished background (PC-R2. V3/T406). It was not that Culpepper made a decision not to investigate Ragsdale's background, it was just that the investigation he and his wife attempted did not turn up anything fruitful, so they focused on other possible mitigation (PC-R2. V3/T407-408).

Clearly, this is not a case where counsel totally failed to investigate. Ragsdale's concerns about Culpepper's inability to testify, eleven years later, exactly which family members were contacted and what information was obtained do not suggest that counsel's performance was deficient. In all likelihood, Culpepper's wife would have contacted Ragsdale's mother and father, who were alive at the time of trial but not at the time of the evidentiary hearing (PC-R2. V2/T192, 204); she may have also spoken to one or more of his brothers and to Raymond Hicks, who Ragsdale lived with while in Florida but who did not testify at trial or at the evidentiary hearing. Culpepper himself spoke

with Terry and perhaps others (PC-R2. V3/T404). The fact that one brother, three cousins and a distant aunt are now willing to provide testimony about Ragsdale's difficult childhood does not establish that Culpepper performed deficiently in investigating Ragsdale's background for mitigation.

The cases cited by Ragsdale do not compel the granting of <u>Jackson v. Herring</u>, 42 F.3d 1350, 1367 (11th Cir.), cert. dismissed, 515 U.S. 1189 (1995) was a case in which a misunderstanding between the two co-counsel resulted in a lack of investigation into mitigating evidence. The only evidence submitted for sentencing was the stipulation that the defendant was 33 years old. Although a routine background history was taken from the defendant, neither counsel followed up by talking with family members or friends. Jackson and her sister testified at the federal evidentiary hearing to a wealth of mitigation from her life history, including having to drop out of school in the eighth grade due to her pregnancy; being subject to abuse from an alcoholic mother, yet being devoted to her mother and caring for her through a terminal illness; her devotion to other family members including her child and her sister; a steady employment history; and having been under the influence of alcohol at the time of the crime. As noted above, the instant case is not one where no investigation was conducted, so <u>Jackson</u> is not persuasive.

In <u>Blanco v. Singletary</u>, 943 F.2d 1477, 1500-01 (11th Cir. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 504 U.S. 943 (1992), defense counsel undertook some minimal investigation, included leaving messages with family members, but not until after trial had commenced. Although counsel had attempted to contact a number of Blanco's family members and friends, these attempts were not part of the general trial preparation, but were made as the trial was ongoing or after the guilty verdict had been returned. And although the court had recessed for four days before the sentencing, it was apparent that Blanco's attorney simply ran out of time due to the failure to begin the penalty phase investigation prior to trial. As a result, information about Blanco's impoverished childhood in Cuba, his organic brain damage, and his epileptic seizures was never known to counsel.

Middleton v. Dugger, 849 F.2d 491, 493 (11th Cir. 1988), is also easily distinguishable. In that case, counsel "conducted almost no background investigation," and failed to learn that Middleton had been placed in a psychiatric hospital for about two weeks when he was twelve years old, diagnosed as having "Schizophrenia Reaction, Chronic Paranoid Type with Passive Features" and needing residential treatment. In addition to his documented mental illness, Middleton had suffered abuse as a child; he had run away from home frequently and, when his mother

died when he was ten years old, his father told him that his absence (from having run away) had caused her death; he had also been sexually abused while in reform school and made the first of several suicide attempts when he was thirteen years old. Clearly, the mitigation which was available for discovery in the Middleton case, particularly the extensive mental health evidence, is not present in the case at bar.

Obviously, Culpepper had a clear duty to conduct a reasonable investigation into possible mitigation, but once again this is not a case where no investigation was conducted. This Court has previously differentiated between cases where defense counsel conducted no penalty phase investigation and cases where, as here, an investigation was conducted and the question was whether the scope of the investigation was reasonable. See, <u>Jones v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 313, 319 (Fla. 1999); Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 223. Of course, there can be no set formula for a "reasonable investigation," because each individual case will present different avenues for investigation.

Case law offers a number of scenarios involving attorneys performing inadequate investigations: in <u>Blanco</u>, the only attempt to secure mitigation witnesses was to leave telephone messages and wait for responses, after trial had started; in <u>Armstrong v. Dugger</u>, 833 F.2d 1430, 1433-34 (11th Cir. 1987),

counsel had but a single conversation with the defendant and his parents, and another conversation with the defendant's parole officer. On the other hand, in Ferguson v. State, 593 So. 2d 508, 510-511 (Fla. 1992), counsel's interviewing the defendant and family members, and reviewing psychiatric reports, then putting the mother on as the only witness, was sufficient. also, Jones, 732 So. 2d at 316-318 (counsel spoke with three family members that were not interested in helping the defendant, and presented a mental health expert but did not establish the statutory mental mitigation); Francis v. Dugger, 908 F.2d 696 (11th Cir. 1990), <u>cert. denied</u>, 500 U.S. 910 (1991) (decision to make impassioned argument for life and not to investigate family background not deficient). What is clear is that there is no particular investigative scope which is required; necessarily, what investigation will be "reasonable" must vary from case to case depending on the circumstances presented. It is a matter of common sense that some defendants will present a great deal of potential mitigation, while others simply may not offer as much to be investigated or presented. Strategic decisions about when to forego further investigation must be made in every case, as lawyers can "almost always do something more," and do not enjoy the benefit of endless time, energy or financial resources. Rogers v. Zant, 13 F.3d 384, 387 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 513

U.S. 899 (1994), quoting <u>Atkins v. Singletary</u>, 965 F.2d 952, 959-960 (11th Cir. 1992).

Strickland teaches that "strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support limitations on investigation." 466 U.S. at 690-691. Thus, it is necessary to look at the investigation that was actually conducted, rather than simply seeing the fruits of a later investigation, to determine the reasonableness οf the investigating attorney's performance. See, Rose, 675 So. 2d at 572 (in evaluating competence of counsel, must examine counsel's actual performance in preparation for penalty phase, as well as reasons advanced for performance). The investigation described by Culpepper below was more extensive than those in Ferguson, Jones, and Francis, all of which were deemed to be reasonable. Culpepper knew to investigate Ragsdale's background and talk to family members in order to develop penalty phase evidence, and his wife advised him of the conversations she had and the information she was getting, and he concluded that the family was not interested in helping (PC-R2. V3/T404, 406-408).

Ragsdale now asserts that Culpeppper's conclusion was "flatly incredible" because his brother Ernie was available and willing to help, even deposed prior to trial. The fact that one brother out of Ragsdale's six person family came forward at his

evidentiary hearing does not negate Culpepper's testimony that Ragsdale's family was not interested or helpful at the time of trial. And although Ragsdale now extols Ernie as a credible witness, at the time of trial, Ernie's child was being taken care of and adopted by Ragsdale's diabetic mother (PC-R2. SV1/T12). This is the same Ernie that Ragsdale gave the knife to after confessing to Mace's murder (DA-R. V2/T311). Ernie also believed that Ragsdale was mean and violent, especially when he was on drugs (PC-R2. V2/T184-185, 200). Ernie's testimony at the evidentiary hearing did not offer any positive character traits, so it also would have been subject to the same criticisms counsel is now leveling at Terry's penalty phase testimony.

Culpepper's testimony at the hearing below established that he conducted a reasonable investigation for background mitigating evidence at the time of Ragsdale's trial. This testimony provides substantial support for the trial court's finding that this mitigation "was not available to his trial counsel" (PC-R2. V1/130) and compels the rejection of Ragsdale's claim of ineffectiveness with regard to counsel's investigation of family background mitigation. Huff v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S411 (Fla. 2000) (standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claim requires deference to factual findings of trial court). Since the trial court's finding that

Culpepper was not deficient in his investigation of Ragsdale's background is supported by the testimony below, it should not be disturbed on appeal.

As for mental mitigation, Culpepper testified that he considered presenting mental mitigation, that he had Dr. DelBeato's report and reviewed the report, but that he did not think there was sufficient mental mitigation to present to the jury (PC-R2. V3/T389-391). Although Ragsdale makes much of the fact that Dr. DelBeato characterized his work own as preliminary, this is not the issue. The question is whether any reasonable attorney could review Dr. DelBeato's report and conclude that the mental mitigation suggested in the report would not be helpful. There is no question that Culpepper was aware of Ragsdale's drug and alcohol use, his prior drug conviction, his learning disability and low IQ (PC-R2. V3/T406). According to Dr. DelBeato, any other possible mitigating factors which he noted in his evaluation would have been mentioned in the report (PC-R2. SV1/T75). The court below specifically found that "the psychological factors discussed during this hearing were considered by trial counsel" (PC-R2. V1/130). Culpepper was aware of this evidence and chose not to present it, the failure to present mental mitigation was a strategic decision, not subject to being second-guessed or challenged as ineffectiveness simply because current counsel would proceed differently. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Ragsdale's brief again unfairly characterizes some of the testimony at the hearing below on this issue. For example, he notes repeatedly that DelBeato's report advised defense counsel of the need to investigate Ragsdale's claim to have been on drugs and alcohol at the time of the crime, stating that Culpepper failed to follow up on Delbeato's advice to do more. Yet he has not alleged that intoxication was not explored and, more importantly, has never identified any possible fruit from such an investigation. Additionally, Ragsdale's suggestion that DelBeato inferred that money may have limited the scope of his evaluation was expressly refuted by Dr. DelBeato (PC-R2. SV1/T89-90).

Of course, a defendant's mental condition is not an issue in every case. Mills v. State, 603 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1992); see, Francis, 908 F.2d at 703 (noting trial counsel had no reason to retain mental health expert since facts of the offense showed Francis was fully aware of criminality of his actions). Furthermore, it is important to assess the nature of the mental evidence available in determining counsel's reasonableness in pursuing such mitigation. Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 223. Although Dr. Berland testified below that both mental mitigating factors would apply in this case, the testimony which he offered was not compelling and was, in some ways, directly refuted by

both Dr. Merin and Dr. DelBeato. Dr. Berland's diagnosis of an unspecified form of mental illness based on the administration of outdated intelligence and personality tests was criticized by Dr. Merin (PC-R2. V3/T291-291, 305, 360-363). Both Merin and DelBeato conducted neuropsychological screenings and found no indication of organic brain damage (PC-R2. V3/T360, 369, 371; SV1/T76, 83). In addition, Berland testified that Ragsdale's "character disturbance" made it difficult to assess which of his test results were the product of mental illness and which merely reflected the character problem (PC-R2. V3/T306). A review of the mental health evidence available both as known to defense counsel at the time of trial and as offered at the evidentiary hearing does not establish that Culpepper was ineffective in his decision not to present mental health mitigation.

Strickland counsels that, if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, it is not necessary to address whether counsel's performance fell below the standard of reasonably competent counsel. 466 U.S. at 697. The jury recommendation for death in this case was eight to four. Ragsdale committed a senseless murder of a family acquaintance in order to rob the man. Mr. Mace was beaten, suffered numerous stab wounds, and had his throat cut "from ear to ear." The circumstances of the instant offense and Ragsdale's prior record demanded the imposition of

the death penalty for this crime.

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